RECEIVED

Jan 03 2023

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Charleston County

Honorable R. Ferrell Cothran, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

DAVID CROCKETT ROBINSON,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2021-001039

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

TAYLOR D. GILLIAM
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

I. Whether the trial court erred in admitting an out-of-court show-up identification, where the suggestibility dwarfed the reliability, where officers advised the victim “we got him” immediately before the identification, and where the victim could only state the individual who she identified looked similar to the assailant?

II. Whether the trial judge erred in refusing to allow Appellant the opportunity to recross-examine the victim during the pre-trial Biggers hearing, where new information was elicited during redirect examination, but where the trial judge was concerned about the jury waiting?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In September 2017, a Charleston County Grand Jury indicted Appellant for armed robbery and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. R. 364 - 368. He proceeded to trial before the Honorable R. Ferrell Cothran, Jr. and a jury on September 7, 2021. Rodney Davis and Alex Reid represented Appellant; Benjamin Simpson and Philip Abshire appeared on behalf of the state.

After a three-day trial, the jury found Appellant guilty as indicted. R. 347, ll. 1 – 7. Judge Cothran sentenced Appellant to twenty-seven years' incarceration on the armed robbery offense and five years concurrent on the weapons charge. R. 362, ll. 14 – 19.

This appeal follows.

ARGUMENT

I. The trial court erred in admitting an out-of-court show-up identification, where the suggestibility dwarfed the reliability, where officers advised the victim “we got him” immediately before the identification, and where the victim could only state the individual who she identified looked similar to the assailant.

Relevant facts

After a tourist was robbed at gunpoint in downtown Charleston, law enforcement tracked the stolen cell phone and employed an unduly suggestive show-up identification procedure wherein they outright told the tourist “we got him” before asking her to identify him. In doing so, the officers tainted the show-up identification. The trial judge erred in allowing the identification to be admitted at trial.

Jacquelyn Cox, a New York City resident, traveled to Charleston for work in May 2017. R. 5, ll. 4 – 24. On May 7, 2017, Cox was robbed while on Queen Street. R. 6, l. 4 – R. 8, l. 23. The man placed a gun against her ribcage and took her laptop, cell phone, and other personal items. R. 9, l. 22 – R. 12, l. 9. The man then ran away and Cox sought help. R. 12, ll. 10 – 25. Officers arrived quickly. R. 13, ll. 1 – 8.

Cox provided a description of the perpetrator to the officers. She indicated he had “no distinguishing hair style.” R. 14, ll. 1 – 13. She stated his race was African American. R. 14, ll. 14 – 19. He was approximately 5’ 10” according to Cox. R. 14, l. 20 – R. 15, l. 10. The assailant was wearing a white shirt with black pants and carrying a black duffel bag. R. 15, ll. 11 – 24. Cox also described a blemish on the man’s face—a “scar, dimple, pick mark on the cheek.” R. 16, ll. 3 – 15. She was unable to view the lower half of her assailant’s face, as it was obscured by a mask or bandana. R. 9, ll. 12 – 16.

Based on a past incident where she had lost her phone in Brooklyn, Cox realized she could track her phone using the “Find my iPhone” feature.¹ She suggested this course of action to the officers, who used allowed Cox to input her information into one of their phones. R. 17, l. 24 – R. 18, l. 12. The officers then tracked the location of Cox’s stolen iPhone. Id.

As officers located the car in which Cox’s phone appeared to be, one of the officers, Henderson, told Cox “we got him.” R. 34, ll. 14 – 20; State’s Exhibit 37 (09:57 – 10:20 & 25:25 – 25:42). Officers followed the location of Cox’s phone and detained Appellant, a passenger in the vehicle.² R. 55, ll. 5 – 8.

They arranged for a show-up identification. Counsel for Appellant questioned Cox regarding any conversations that occurred as she rode in the cop car to go make the identification. R. 43, ll. 3 – 9.

During the pre-trial Biggers hearing, the state played state’s Exhibit 36. As part of the show-up procedure, an officer told Cox:

We’re here at this location. There’s an individual detained. I want you to bear in mind that their overall appearance may have changed from what you saw or what initially you saw there on scene. Hairstyle and a couple of other things may have differed.

State’s Exhibit 36B (00:20 – 00:33).

During the identification process, Cox stated “Yeah, it’s very similar. I wish I could see his face closer to see if there’s a pock mark or something on that cheek but it looks very similar.” State’s Exhibit 36B (01:28 – 01:37). She described his stature as similar and said his hair looked

¹ This technology allows a user to determine the location of a device. “Find My [Device]” <https://www.apple.com/icloud/find-my/> (last accessed July 27, 2022).

² Officers never found a bandana or a weapon.

“*about* the same” (emphasis in original). Id. This conversation was also memorialized during cross-examination pre-trial. R. 46, l. 7 – R. 47, l. 13.

Through *post hoc rationalization*, the state elicited testimony from Cox that it was her intent to “convey to [the officer] that that is the same [person].” R. 22, ll. 10 – 12. Notably, as the state continued to question Cox about her identification, the solicitor interrupted her as she began to describe what she *did not see*. R. 23, ll. 11 – 14.

At the conclusion of the Biggers hearing, the state argued for admissibility. R. 68, l. 12 – R. 73, l. 17. The defense sought suppression. R. 73, l. 19 – R.78, l. 9. Although he found that the show-up was suggestive, the trial judge denied the suppression motion. R. 79, l. 22 – R. 81, l. 11.

Standard of Review

“[W]hether an eyewitness identification is sufficiently reliable is a mixed question of law and fact.” State v. Moore, 343 S.C. 282, 288, 540 S.E.2d 445, 448 (2000) (finding show-up identification unreliable as a matter of law); see also State v. Traylor, 360 S.C. 74, 81-82, 600 S.E.2d 523, 526-27 (2004) (citing Moore and holding that photographic line-up procedure was “patently suggestive”). “Generally, the decision to admit an eyewitness identification is at the trial judge’s discretion and will not be disturbed on appeal absent an abuse of such, or the commission of prejudicial legal error.” Moore at 288, 540 S.E.2d at 448. “In reviewing mixed questions of law and fact, where the evidence supports but one reasonable inference, the question becomes a matter of law for the court.” Id. Questions of law are reviewed *de novo*. Sellner v. State, 416 S.C. 606, 610, 787 S.E.2d 525, 527 (2016).

Discussion

An eyewitness identification which is unreliable because of suggestive line-up procedure is constitutionally inadmissible as a matter of law. Caver v. Alabama, 537 F.2d 1333, 1335 (5th Cir. 1976) (citing Foster v. California, 394 U.S. 440, 442-43, n. 2, 89 S.Ct. 1127, 22 L.E.2d 402 (1969)).

Officers repeatedly suggested to Cox that the person they had captured was the person who robbed her. Through their actions and their words, law enforcement tainted her already flimsy identification. Her response to defense counsel's final question during pre-trial cross-examination reflected her understanding that the person she was supposed to identify was definitely the person who robbed her:

Q: Given the shortness in time between the robbery and when you're up in the industrial area and given the conversations with Henderson, who calls out the pings, okay, that officer while you're sitting there. And given the summary of what's happened that Sergeant Adams [gave] you, did you feel confident the police had the suspect caught?

A: Based on them taking me to go I.D. somebody? **I would feel confident that that would be a suspect.**

R. 49, ll. 10 – 21 (emphasis added).

Cox's above testimony illustrates the inherent—and seemingly infallible—suggestiveness of the show-up procedures employed in this case. Notably, another witness—perhaps one not force fed suggestive information—was unable to make a positive identification of Appellant. R. 62, l. 16 – R. 63, l. 14.

“A criminal defendant may be deprived of due process of law by an identification procedure arranged by police which is unnecessarily suggestive and conducive to irreparable mistaken identification.” State v. Traylor, 360 S.C. 74, 81, 600 S.E.2d 523, 526 (2004). “An in-

court identification of an accused is inadmissible if a suggestive out-of-court identification procedure created a very substantial likelihood of irreparable misidentification.” Id.

In Neil v. Biggers, the United States Supreme Court set forth a two-pronged inquiry to determine whether due process requires suppression of an eyewitness identification. Due process requires courts to assess, on a case-by-case basis, whether the identification resulted from unnecessary and unduly suggestive police procedures, and if so, whether the out-of-court identification was nevertheless so reliable that no substantial likelihood of misidentification existed. 409 U.S. 188, 198, 93 S.Ct. 375, 34 L.Ed.2d 401 (1972). Under the totality of the circumstances, the factors to be considered in assessing the reliability of an otherwise unduly suggestive identification procedure are: (1) the witness's opportunity to view the perpetrator at the time of the crime, (2) the witness's degree of attention, (3) the accuracy of the witness's prior description of the perpetrator, (4) the level of certainty demonstrated by the witness at the confrontation, and (5) the length of time between the crime and the confrontation. Manson v. Brathwaite, 432 U.S. 98, 114, 97 S.Ct. 2243, 53 L.Ed.2d 140 (1977) (citing Biggers, 409 U.S. at 199–200, 93 S.Ct. 375).

South Carolina courts have held this determination should be made during an *in camera* hearing, outside of the presence of the jury. See State v. Ramsey, 345 S.C. 607, 613, 550 S.E.2d 294, 297 (2001) (holding that generally, a trial court must hold an *in camera* hearing when the State offers a witness whose testimony identifies the defendant as a person who committed the crime and the defendant challenges the in-court identification as being tainted by a previous, illegal identification or confrontation); State v. Simmons, 308 S.C. 80, 417 S.E.2d 92 (1992) (same); see also Rule 104(c), SCRE (providing that “[h]earings on the admissibility of ... pretrial identifications of an accused shall in all cases be conducted out of the hearing of the

jury”). “The purpose of the *in camera* hearing is to determine whether the in-court identification was of independent origin or was the tainted product of the circumstances surrounding the prior, out-of-court identification.” Ramsey, 345 S.C. at 613, 550 S.E.2d at 297.

The Supreme Court of the United States has repeatedly emphasized “that due process concerns arise only when law enforcement officers use an identification procedure that is both suggestive and unnecessary.” Perry v. New Hampshire, 565 U.S. 228, 238-39, 132 S.Ct. 716, 724, 181 L.Ed. 2d 694, 707 (2012) (citing Manson v. Brathwaite, 432 U.S. 98, 107, 109, 97 S.Ct. 2243, 2249, 2250, 53 L.Ed. 2d 140, 149, 151 (1977), and Biggers, 409 U.S. at 198, 93 S.Ct. at 382, 34 L.Ed. 2d at 411); see also Liverman, 398 S.C. at 138, 727 S.E.2d at 426 (describing the trial court's task under the first prong as determining “whether the identification resulted from unnecessary and unduly suggestive police procedures”). “[W]hat triggers due process concerns is police use of an unnecessarily suggestive identification procedure....” Perry, 565 U.S. at 232 n.1, 132 S.Ct. at 721 n.1, 181 L.Ed. 2d at 703 n.1.

In general, “one-on-one show-ups have been sharply criticized, and are inherently suggestive.” State v. Moore, 343 S.C. 282, 287, 540 S.E.2d 445, 448 (quoting Jefferson v. State, 206 Ga.App. 544, 425 S.E.2d 915, 918 (1992)); see also Stovall v. Denno, 388 U.S. 293, 87 S.Ct. 1967, 18 L.Ed.2d 1199 (overruled on other grounds). In State v. Johnson, this Court noted how single person show-ups are particularly disfavored in the law. 311 S.C. 132, 134, 427 S.E.2d 718, 719 (Ct. App. 1993).

Our Supreme Court has held the inquiry turns upon “whether, under the totality of the circumstances, there was a substantial likelihood of irreparable misidentification.” Moore at 287, 540 S.E.2d at 448 (internal citation omitted). “Suggestiveness alone does not mandate the exclusion of evidence.” State v. Mansfield, 343 S.C. 66, 78, 538 S.E.2d 257, 263. “Reliability is

the linchpin in determining the admissibility of identification testimony.” Id. This standard is ripe for abuse, particularly in the matter *sub judice*, where the suggestiveness gives way to an identification. Confirmation bias should not be relied upon in order to convict defendants in South Carolina.

Officer Harvill testified that the “best practice” would have been to do a photograph lineup as opposed to the show-up identification. R. 64, ll. 2 – 9. Instead, an officer drove Cox to the industrial area where officers had detained Appellant. Coupled with the remark “we got him,” this was beyond unduly suggestive. Taking a witness to a location where a suspect, but no other individuals, are being detained is suggestive. In the Interest of Jamal Rashee A., 308 S.C. 392, 418 S.E.2d 326 (Ct App. 1992).

Reviewing the reliability factors, the fourth factor—level of certainty demonstrated at confrontation—prevents a finding of reliability on its own. Cox was unsure at the confrontation; she could only state that the individual at the show-up appeared similar to the perpetrator. The length of time between crime and confrontation likely weighs neutral; forty-five minutes to an hour transpired in between, and Cox had to travel in the cop’s car to the industrial area. Cox’s prior description matched when it came to clothing and race. As mentioned above, neither a bandana nor a weapon were located. Cox’s degree attention and ability to see the assailant were limited, especially considering she was approached from behind. Additionally, the incident did not last long, and the robber’s face was partially obscured. The pock mark cannot be used in good conscience to argue reliability, where Cox was unable to see Appellant’s face clearly or closely at the show-up; she instead wistfully noted how it would have been ideal to see him closer.

A self-fulfilling prophecy is insufficient, particularly where the individual making the identification is repeatedly told that the person she is about to identify matches her assailant. The police have, in essence, done her job for her. All they need is a perfunctory “yes” in order to make the arrest. The suggestibility vastly outweighed the reliability. The identification should have been suppressed.

II. The trial judge erred in refusing to allow Appellant the opportunity to recross-examine the victim during the pre-trial Biggers hearing, where new information was elicited during redirect examination, but where the trial judge was concerned about the jury waiting.

Relevant facts

At the conclusion of the state’s redirect examination of Cox at the pre-trial Biggers hearing, defense counsel sought to utilize recross-examination. R. 52, l. 24 – R. 53, l. 9. The judge would not allow counsel to ask additional questions of the witness:

No, he goes first, you go second then that’s it. Under the rules that I’ve always practiced you don’t get a second crack. Besides, I got a jury sitting out there.

R. 53, ll. 4 – 8.

Under the trial judge’s stated procedure, it would seem the state should not have been afforded the opportunity to redirect the witness. Nonetheless, the state then called Joseph Harvill, an officer with the City of Charleston Police Department. R. 53 – 54. As outlined in Issue I, *supra*, the trial judge denied the defense’s motion to exclude the statement.

Standard of Review

“The scope of cross-examination is within the discretion of the trial judge, whose decision will not be reversed on appeal absent a showing of prejudice.” State v. Pradubsri, 403 S.C. 270, 276, 743 S.E.2d 98, 101 (Ct. App. 2013). An error of law is an abuse of discretion.

State v. Black, 400 S.C. 10, 16, 732 S.E.2d 880, 884 (2012). A ruling lacking evidentiary support is an abuse of discretion. Id. A trial judge may not limit a defendant's right to engage in cross-examination unless the record clearly shows the cross-examination is improper. State v. Mizzell, 349 S.C. 326, 331, 563 S.E.2d 315, 317 (2002) (reversing refusal to allow cross-examination for bias).

Discussion

“The confrontation clause of the Sixth Amendment of the Constitution of the United States is applicable to the States, and the primary interest secured by the confrontation clause is the right of cross-examination.” State v. Cooper, 386 S.C. 210, 219, 687 S.E.2d 62, 67 (Ct. App. 2009).

“[A] trial judge may impose reasonable limits on cross-examination based upon concerns about, among other things, harassment, prejudice, confusion of the issues, witness safety, or interrogation that is repetitive or only marginally relevant.” State v. Johnson, 338 S.C. 114, 124, 525 S.E.2d 519, 524 (2000). “Absent the introduction of any new matter on re-direct examination,” the rule is that recross-examination is not required. Without something new, a party has the last word with his own witness.” United States v. Fleschner, 98 F.3d 155, 157 (4th Cir. 1996).

In U.S. v. Caudle, the government objected when defense counsel sought to, on recross examination, ask questions of a witness regarding a study the government had done. 606 F.2d 451, 456 (4th Cir. 1979). The objection was “on the basis that he has already been asked that question and answered that question on redirect examination.” The trial court sustained the objection as well as additional others on the same grounds. Id. On appeal, the defendant argued he was deprived of the right of cross-examination; the Fourth Circuit agreed.

“Repeating the same testimonial matter of the direct examination, by questioning the witness anew on cross-examination, is a process which often becomes desirable ... in order to test the witness’ capacity to recollect what he has just stated and to ascertain whether he falls easily into inconsistencies and thus betrays falsification. Id. at 456 (internal citation omitted). The goals of cross-examination cannot be achieved “except by the direct and personal putting of questions.” Davis v. Alaska, 415 U.S. 308, 316, 94 S.Ct. 1105, 1110, 39 L.Ed.2d 347 (1974). “The questions involved having been asked for the first time on redirect examination, the fact that they had been asked and answered is a reason to permit cross-examination, not a reason to deny it.” Caudle at 457.

The Fourth Circuit discussed the right of cross examination at length. Turning to recross examination, the Court held “the reasons we have given in support of the right of cross-examination apply with equal strength to recross examination where new matter is brought out on redirect examination.” Id. at 457-58. “To deny recross examination on matter first drawn out on redirect is to deny the defendant the right of any cross-examination as to that new matter. The prejudice of the denial cannot be doubted.” Id. at 458.

On cross-examination, defense counsel elicited testimony and played bodycam footage regarding one of the officers saying “we got him.” On redirect, the state sought to sidestep that evidence by asking Cox whether “the chatter on the radio or any other detail” influenced her “confident I.D.”? R. 51, ll. 8 – 12. A similar question was asked as to whether “anything stated later by the police” would “unduly impact” her identification. R. 51, ll. 19 – 25. This was newly elicited information, properly subject to recross examination. This was new information and deserved follow-up. The trial judge mistakenly concluded the jury’s time was more valuable than Appellant’s constitutional rights. This was error, and Appellant is entitled to a new trial.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, Appellant respectfully requests this Court to reverse and remand for a new trial.



Taylor D. Gilliam
Appellate Defender

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT