RECEIVED

Jan 09 2023

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Charleston County
Honorable R. Ferrell Cothran, Circuit Court Judge

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent,

vs.

DAVID CROCKETT ROBINSON,

Appellant.

Appellate Case No. 2021-001039

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DAVID SPENCER
Senior Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

SCARLET A. WILSON
Solicitor, Ninth Judicial Circuit

101 Meeting Street, Suite 400
Charleston, S. C. 29401
(843) 958-1900

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

the recording of Detective Harvill's interview, (State's Exhibit 36A) at around 5:15-5:30. This last conversation between detectives is heard clearer on State's 36A than on State's 37. The detective is heard asking if he heard anything over the radio and Detective Harvill said no, he had it turned off. (State's Exhibit 36A, 5:20-5:30). No police chatter is heard in this recording. Therefore, it appears more likely Victim did not hear the chatter of when they caught Robinson. After Appellant was captured, Victim was told the person was detained rather than "we got him."

Victim's identification of Robinson was audio recorded. When Robinson was brought into view, while Victim remained safely in the patrol car, her immediate response was "Yeah," quickly followed by the detective's question, "That's him?" She says "very similar" and then "yes" while the detective interjects the question once more – they are really speaking over each other. It seems likely her initial "yeah" was an unsolicited statement that Robinson was the robber and second affirmation, "yes" is the answer to the detective's question. Victim states she wishes she could see his face closer to see the pock mark. She then said "it" is very similar, perhaps reference to the pock mark. She describes him wearing a "white beater" and black jeans. She further confirms he is of similar stature and the hair looks about the same. State's Exhibit 36B (1:27-1:50).

After hearing arguments, the trial court ruled as follows:

Based on what's before me and, you know, the witness had an opportunity, even though he had a face mask on, he was very close to her, she had a good look at him and she described not only basically his height and the fact that his race, clothes, the fact that she did see pock marks and scarring on his right cheek and she was paying close attention to that, even though I'm sure based on her testimony it was a scary situation for her. She gave an accurate description at the time, she had a sufficient amount of time to observe him at the time of the armed robbery. And from the time the robbery occurred, till they apprehended the defendant in this case, was 45 minutes to an hour I think was basically the testimony.

And, you know, show-ups, which is correct are suggestive. The question is whether they were so unduly suggestive. And I can take into consideration based on Govan and other case law, that [the totality] of the circumstances in this case. Because the real thing for me, was the identification. Even though it was somewhat suggestive, relied on, and there was no substantial likelihood of a misidentification. And the fact that she's informed the police to start pinging her phone and they did that, and they tracked the phone while the suspect was in the automobile, tracked the phone till they caught the suspect. So, that adds another layer that makes this misidentification very unlikely in this case. And I think it satisfies the issues of State v. Brown and Govan, as well as Biggers and Jones, and other cases. I find that the identification is admissible.

R. p. 79, line 22-p. 81, line 11.

Show-up identifications occurring shortly after the crime are generally not unnecessarily suggestive.

A significant hurdle not addressed by Appellant's trial counsel and minimized by Appellant now on appeal is that the show-up identification was close in time to the robbery and was not unnecessarily suggestive due to the fresh opportunity to conduct the show-up quickly after the robbery occurred.

When evidence of an eyewitness identification is introduced during a criminal trial, a defendant may be deprived of due process of law if that identification was the product of unnecessarily suggestive circumstances arranged by government officials, such as law enforcement officers, and a very substantial likelihood of irreparable mistaken identification exists as a result of those suggestive circumstances. Neil v. Biggers, 409 U.S. 188, 197-198 (1972); see Perry v. New Hampshire, 565 U.S. 228, 232 (2012) (recognizing "a due process check on the admission of eyewitness identification" is applicable "when the police have arranged suggestive circumstances leading the witness to identify a particular person as the perpetrator of a crime").

Biggers provides a two-step test to determine the admissibility of an eyewitness identification. First the trial judge must determine if the identification procedure employed was both suggestive *and* unnecessary under the circumstances. Biggers, 409 U.S. at 199-200; see United States v. Stevens, 935 F.2d 1380, 1389 (3rd Cir. 1991) (explaining the question of whether an identification procedure is unnecessarily suggestive depends on both its suggestiveness and necessity). In making such a determination, factors to be considered include what procedure was employed, whether the utilized procedure was warranted by an emergency or the existence of exigent circumstances, and whether an alternative procedure could *practically* have been used that would be less suggestive. See, e.g., Manson v. Brathwaite, 432 U.S. 98, 109 (1977) (recognizing the use of a single-person photographic lineup in the absence of an emergency or the existence of exigent circumstances was unnecessarily suggestive). If the identification procedure employed was not suggestive *or* was necessary under the circumstances involved, “the inquiry ends there and the court need not consider the second prong.” State v. Wyatt, 421 S.C. 306, 310, 806 S.E.2d 708, 710 (2017). “[T]he analysis under the first prong is not complete without considering the necessity of the procedures.” Id. at 312, 806 S.E.2d at 711.

Appellant’s counsel tried an end run around this first prong, claiming, “I’m not going to spend too much time on the first prong, which Courts have held here that the show-up I.D. has been highly suggestive and conducive to misrepresentation or excuse me, misidentification.” R. p. 73, lines 19-25. Later, counsel admitted, “I guess this was the best way to do it under the circumstances.” R. p. 32, lines 17-18.

Amongst the various identification procedures that may be employed, multi-person photographic lineups are generally considered to be the least suggestive of the possible procedures.

See Simmons v. United States, 390 U.S. 377, 383 (1968) (characterizing an identification procedure through which a witness is shown pictures of a number of individuals without being informed which one is the suspect as “the most correct” photographic identification procedure). Meanwhile, single person show-ups are disfavored because they are inherently suggestive. State v. Blassingame, 338 S.C. 240, 251, 525 S.E.2d 535, 541 (Ct. App. 1999). However, “[m]ost eyewitness identifications involve some element of suggestion[,]” and suggestiveness alone does *not* mandate the exclusion of identification evidence. Perry, 565 U.S. at 244; State v. Brown, 356 S.C. 496, 504, 589 S.E.2d 781, 785 (Ct. App. 2003) (“Suggestiveness alone does not mandate the exclusion of evidence.”).

“Police officers need not limit themselves to station house line-ups when an opportunity for a quick, on-the-scene identification arises. Such identifications are essential to free innocent suspects and to inform the police if further investigation is necessary.” United States v King, 148 F.3d 968, 970 (8th Cir. 1998); see Brisco v. Ercole, 565 F.3d 80, 91 (2d Cir. 2009) (explaining it was not unreasonable to conclude a show-up was not *unnecessarily* suggestive because “the procedure enabled the officers to determine whether they ‘had their man’ while the witness’s memory was still fresh and while the maroon shorts were still available as evidence” and noting “the officers could resume their search for the offender” if no identification was made during the show-up). “Necessary incidents of on-the-scene identifications, such as the suspects being handcuffed and in police custody, do not render the identification procedure impermissibly suggestive.” King, 148 F.3d at 970. “Whether such factors cast doubt on the accuracy of a positive identification is an issue for the jury.” Id.

When the identification procedure involved was a show-up, the following factors should be considered to determine its propriety: (1) how quickly the show-up was conducted after the alleged

crime; (2) whether the show-up was conducted near the scene of the crime; (3) whether the witness's memory was still fresh at the time of the show-up; (4) whether the suspect has had time to alter his looks or dispose of evidence; and (5) whether the show-up may expedite the release of innocent suspects and enable the police to determine whether they need to continue searching for the true perpetrator. Brown, 356 S.C. at 503-504, 589 S.E.2d at 785; see also Willis v. Garrison, 624 F.2d 491, 493-494 (4th Cir. 1980) (acknowledging show-ups are inherently suggestive but recognizing prompt on-the-scene show-up identifications can promote fairness by enhancing the reliability of the identifications and permitting the expeditious release of innocent suspects). Significantly, the use of a show-up is less objectionable the closer the show-up is in time and proximity to the scene of the crime. Brown, 356 S.C. at 504, 589 S.E.2d at 785. Furthermore, a show-up may even be proper where the police refer to the suspect as a suspect and the suspect is handcuffed and in the presence of law enforcement officers. Id.

In the present case, Robinson was apprehended close in time to the robbery and had limited opportunity to dispose of evidence or change his appearance. Victim made her identification while the robbery was still fresh in her mind. The stolen items were found in the vehicle he fled and he wore clothes matching the description of the robber. Detective Harvill testified that by employing the procedure, the officers would not detain Robinson longer than necessary if it turned out he was not the person who robbed Victim. Detective Harvill emphasized the importance of seizing on the opportunity for an identification while Victim's observations of the robber were still fresh in Victim's mind. On the other hand, Detective Harvill noted that the process of assembling a usable six-person array would delay the identification process. Therefore, the alternative procedure Robinson proposes was not practical. Accordingly, evidence shows that the procedure employed was

necessary under the circumstances.

No substantial likelihood of misidentification

At trial, Appellant argued the identification was unreliable because: “All she was able to say was similar. Similar stature, similar appearance, about the same hair. But if she knew for certain that was the guy then she would have said, that’s the guy.” R. p. 76, lines 2-5. See State v. Brown, 333 S.C. 185, 190, 508 S.E.2d 38, 41 (Ct. App. 1998) (noting “a witness identification need not be one hundred percent certain in order to meet due process requirements”).

In the event an identification procedure is found to have been unnecessarily and unduly suggestive, it must then—pursuant to the second step of the Neal v. Biggers two-prong inquiry—be determined whether the suggestiveness of the procedure resulted in a substantial likelihood of misidentification. State v. Liverman, 398 S.C. 130, 138, 727 S.E.2d 422, 426 (2012). Critically, identification evidence may still be admissible if the State can prove by clear and convincing evidence the identification is reliable notwithstanding the suggestiveness of the identification procedure employed. State v. Govan, 372 S.C. 552, 559, 643 S.E.2d 92, 95-96 (Ct. App. 2007); see State v. Traylor, 360 S.C. 74, 82, 600 S.E.2d 523, 527 (2004) (“Even assuming an identification procedure is suggestive, it need not be excluded so long as, under all the circumstances, the identification was reliable notwithstanding the suggestiveness.”). When determining whether the identification is reliable, a court must look to the totality of the circumstances, and the following factors are pertinent to the inquiry: (1) the opportunity of the witness to view the criminal at the time of the crime; (2) the witness’s degree of attention; (3) the accuracy of the witness’s prior description of the criminal; (4) the level of certainty demonstrated by the witness at the confrontation; and (5) the amount of time between the crime and the identification. Govan, 372 S.C. at 559, 643 S.E.2d at 96;

see also State v. Scipio, 283 S.C. 124, 127, 322 S.E.2d 15, 17 (1984) (“The reliability of an identification is determined by the facts.”).

In the instant case: (1) the robbery occurred in the day time, and Victim saw the robber at close range. She noted she saw him clearly from the nose up, and observed his mark on his cheek; (2) she was focused on the robber; (see State v. Blassingame, 338 S.C. 240, 252, 525 S.E.2d 535, 541-542 (Ct. App. 1999) (“A person in fear of his life presumably has a more acute degree of attention to his surroundings than a mere passerby”)); (3) Appellant was dressed as described by Victim, and on his cheek is the mark she described; (4) although Victim expressed a desire to see Appellant closer to better view the scabbing and acne on his cheek, and used the phrase “similar,” she testified at the hearing that she was certain of her identification;¹ and (5) the identification was made roughly an hour from the time of the robbery.

Upon examining those factors, a court ordinarily should admit identification evidence and allow the jury to determine its worth “if the indicia of reliability are strong enough to outweigh the corrupting effect of the police-arranged suggestive circumstances[.]” Perry, 565 U.S. at 232; see Harker v. Maryland, 800 F.2d 437, 443 (4th Cir. 1983) (instructing the exclusion is a “drastic sanction” and should be “limited to identification testimony which is manifestly suspect”). In the instant case, the trial court’s ruling is supported by evidence. First, the identification was not unduly or unnecessarily suggestive. Second, evidence supports the trial court’s observations that the procedure employed did not create a likelihood of irreparable misidentification.

¹ Appellant argues without citation to authority, “Reviewing the reliability factors, the fourth factor – level of certainty demonstrated at confrontation – prevents a finding of reliability on its own.” App. Br. p. 9. However, “an identification is not unreliable because it is phrased in uncertain terms.” United States v. Peoples, 748 F.2d 934, 936 (4th Cir. 1984).

Finally, any error was harmless. The harmless error doctrine preserves the central purpose of a criminal trial, which is to decide the factual question of a defendant's guilt or innocence. State v. Rivera, 402 S.C. 225, 246, 741 S.E.2d 694, 705 (2013) (citing Arizona v. Fulminante, 499 U.S. 279, 306-08 (1991)). The "materiality and prejudicial character of the error must be determined from its relationship to the entire case." State v. Thompson, 352 S.C. 552, 562, 575 S.E.2d 77, 83 (Ct. App. 2003). Appellant's flight from the car upon being stopped is evidence of his guilty conscience. He was found hiding in the woods with Victim's cell phone. Latent prints, especially the prints on the soda can, tie him to the vehicle in which all the stolen items were found. He dropped his wallet in his hasty flight. Appellant's cheek bore the marks and scabbing Victim described, and he was dressed as Victim described. Even without evidence of Victim's identification, evidence was overwhelming.

II.

The victim's redirect testimony expressly refuted what the defendant sought to imply during cross-examination and did not constitute new matter that entitled Appellant to recross the victim during the pretrial hearing on her identification of Appellant. Further, the issue is not preserved for review.

Appellant complains he should have been allowed to recross-examine Victim during the Neal v. Biggers hearing because during redirect examination, she testified she was not influenced by anything the officers told her before she identified Appellant as the robber. During cross-examination, Appellant attempted to create the implication that Victim was influenced by police chatter on the radio and Officer Henderson's statement that "we got him." Victim's redirect testimony therefore merely expressly refuted what Appellant sought to imply during cross-

examination and did not introduce new matter that would entitle Appellant to recross-examination. Further, Appellant's claim on appeal that his confrontation rights were violated was not raised to the trial court.

The accused has the right to cross-examine a witness concerning bias under the Confrontation Clause. Davis v. Alaska, 415 U.S. 308 (1974). The right to cross examine a witness concerning current and prior testimony satisfies the requirements of the Confrontation Clause. California v. Green, 399 U.S. 149, 153 (1970). "The appropriate question under a Confrontation Clause analysis is whether there has been any interference with the defendant's opportunity for effective cross-examination at trial." State v. Gillian, 360 S.C. 433, 450, 602 S.E.2d 62, 71 (Ct. App. 2004), *aff'd as modified*, 373 S.C. 601, 646 S.E.2d 872, 876 (2007).

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